

# Science, Technology and Education Advisory Committee (STEAC) Sept 2017 Advisory Report

#### Overview

STEAC met in Boulder, CO on Sept 27-28, 2017 with 14 of 20 STEAC members present. We had a wide-ranging and productive discussion, the details of which are provided in the meeting minutes. Here we report our specific recommendations in four main areas: engagement (short-term and longer-term plans), TWG revitalization, cuts to TOS, and data quality assurance. One general comment—we appreciate the responsiveness with which NEON leadership and staff addressed recommendations outlined in our June 2017 Advisory Report.

### **Engagement**

STEAC supports continued efforts by Battelle to fully address engagement and communication both internally and with the ecological community, as well as with other partners (e.g., agencies). STEAC acknowledges that there are resource constraints on external engagement, but stresses that this effort is critical to the long-term success of the Observatory. Effective community engagement derives from building successful engagement cultures internally and empowering NEON staff to build external relationships. If done right, this can be a low-cost, but highly effective engagement strategy. STEAC also expresses gratitude for the extraordinary commitment by the late Henry Gholz to start the strategic engagement process, and we send condolences on his tragic death. We hope Battelle will move this initiative forward by preparing the strongest strategic engagement plan possible, both in honor of Henry's legacy and to make NEON the fully integrated observatory it was intended to be.

**Short-term Tactical Engagement Plan.** STEAC is pleased to see the short-term tactical engagement commitment started by the STEAC Engagement Working Group in collaboration with Wendy Gram and other NEON staff. In particular, revitalization of the TWGs, increased newsletter frequency, better audience tracking, use of social media, and growing a culture of internal staff engagement were all seen as well done. We encourage Battelle to do all in its power to bolster engagement support locally at NEON Headquarters. Specific recommendations:

- Science writing and outreach staff should be under local direction to minimize communication challenges
  and speed up output generation, especially in visible locations such as the website, newsletter, and social
  media. Lack of website news stories and limitations by local staff to update these is a serious shortcoming
  of the current engagement process.
- Continue development of an 8 to 12-month plan, as engagement and communication is at a critical peak
  right now during the transition to operations. STEAC strongly encourages Battelle to make this plan
  happen. Human-interest stories that focus on how NEON data are being used, for example by current
  NSF Macrosystems PIs, and examples (photos, stories about field ops) of Domain staff in action should
  be featured frequently and disseminated broadly for open-sharing by the community.
- Document existing 'rules' for engagement employed by NEON staff, supporting a strategy of leveraging partners for dissemination and content development.
- Ensure that Battelle marketing and communications policies do not interfere with NEON's need to distribute timely information.
- Develop and clearly articulate a distinct branding and marketing strategy for NEON. It is the sense of the STEAC that within the ecological community, the value of the NEON brand is much greater than that of the Battelle brand.



- Provide robust and nimble support, particularly on-site at NEON Headquarters, to implement and sustain this marketing and branding strategy.
- Develop institutional relationships / partnerships that leverage opportunity, for example through the APLU (Association of Public Land Grant Universities) which represents academic Deans, Directors, and Department Chairs.
- Continue to find, test, and adopt early metrics associated with evaluating engagement strategies

**Long-term Strategic Engagement Plan.** The draft plan is a great scaffold from which to develop a long-range plan; however, it needs to be further developed as a fully scoped, strategic business plan with high level principles that guide business operations on a decadal time-scale. Specific recommendations:

- The plan should not just identify principles, but also specific actions (personnel, budgetary authority, timelines) that allow the plan to be implemented faithfully.
- Clearly identify specific staff and their responsibilities for implementing the plan. Impediments around
  communications have been an issue for implementation of the short-term tactical plan and should be
  rectified. Clarify structures and processes with respect to communication on who writes content, who
  approves content, and who places and disseminates content.
- The plan should provide the framework for budgetary decision making and thus provide sufficient resources to accomplish outlined goals.
- NEON should leverage capacity at Battelle Headquarters or with other partners, utilizing skill sets that extend beyond the abilities that currently exist at NEON.
- Complete a market analysis to guide engagement activities from a data driven perspective.
- Clearly delineate both the engagement and communication aspects of the plan. Internal and external
  communication, education, and research components should be separated out and further partitioned by
  identified stakeholders.
- Document the existing NEON user community and discuss measures to broaden that community.
- Highlight ways that Battelle can maintain and grow the existing engagement culture internally among NEON staff.
- All these activities should be tied to metrics that both evaluate NEON effectiveness (at reaching mission) and engagement success.

## TWG Revitalization

STEAC applauds the effort that has gone into the revitalization process, and we are hopeful this will result in better functioning, more active TWGs. The factors motivating TWGs have changed from protocol development to protocol evaluation/efficiency and data quality, thus it is important for TWG members to examine pertinent NEON data streams as part of the QA/QC process. Some additional considerations:

• Continue focus on best practices in terms of TWG design, membership, and functions. What are the features of successful TWGs, and how do we guide more TWGs in this direction?

- Consider developing a formal survey or document that prompts each TWG to take explicit steps related to data quality assurance and ease of data accessibility (e.g., Are the data easily downloadable? Do they make intuitive sense?)
- STEAC would like a short report (few sentences per TWG) every ~six months at the STEAC meeting, outlining the status and to-date progress of each TWG.

# **Optimization of TOS to Match Budget**

TOS needs to reduce costs by ~40% to meet current budget realities. A special TWG was established specifically to provide NEON staff with recommendations on how best to achieve this reduction. The overall recommendations were to reduce some temporal sampling, archive but not analyze the microbial DNA samples, and not to carry out TOS sampling in Puerto Rico and Hawaii. STEAC was asked to comment on the TWGs recommendations and on how these reductions would impact the scientific program. Our thoughts:

- STEAC believes that NEON carried out a rigorous analysis and has thoughtfully made difficult choices.
  STEAC is not in a position, due to limited information, to make specific recommendations on if or how this
  plan should be changed. There was particular concern about the recommendation to archive, but not
  analyze the microbial DNA samples. While these data are obviously of high interest, the samples are
  being archived and are not lost.
- The TWG recommendations were made before Puerto Rico was hit by hurricanes Jose and Maria.
   Clearly this should be taken into account when considering whether or not to discontinue sampling in this Domain since pre-hurricane data is available and a pre/post hurricane analysis could be very insightful and a type of disturbance that NEON was established to capture.
- Potential efficiencies/savings need to be explored by analyzing the data coming in over the next year.
   These data will provide insights into how much the spatial and seasonal data might further be reduced without loss of quality.
- Synergies with institutions collecting similar data should be considered.

### **Data Quality Assurance**

The effort that NEON staff have put into developing QA/QC protocols is applauded. NEON is setting new standards for coordinated, consistent data collection and the development of quality assurance and quality control protocols. The NEON calibration/validation procedures and CAL/VAL laboratory are impressive, and there are well developed protocols for "top to bottom" and "bottom to top" quality assurance and control from field collection teams up to lead scientists. Having said that, there is a clear disconnect between the development of these protocols and their implementation. STEAC has heard first-hand concerns from numerous community members who have tried to access NEON data and either had trouble with access or found issues with the data once downloaded. We reiterate a point we made in our July 2017 report: "the longstanding promise of NEON is to provide high quality, research-ready data to the ecological community. It is critical that this aim be met and that the community values and has trust in all data products." The disconnect between excellent QA/QC protocols at NEON Headquarters versus what the end user sees on the data portal appears to be driven in large part by a great desire to "get some data posted" which is understandable, but steps need to be taken immediately to minimize confusion in the user community and to maintain NEON's reputation as a leader in data quality. Our recommendations:

- Better clarification is needed on the data portal about the level of data posted (e.g., Is it preliminary? What QA/QC has been done?).
- There needs to be an aggressive system for collecting and responding to user concerns about data quality problems.

- The cyberinfrastructure group needs to be highly responsive to these concerns by (1) promptly and clearly post warnings about preliminary data, and (2) collecting, disseminating and responding to user concerns.
- More generally, there is a strong need for NEON science staff to have time to look at and vet the data.
   We heard repeatedly from staff that they would like to look at data, but don't have time. Battelle leadership should make this a priority and find a way to free up staff time for this critical work. Ultimately, this will be the strongest assurance of high quality data.
- Engage the TWGs in evaluating the accessibility and quality of posted data as mentioned above.

Battelle | September 2017 4